

, -	2-0	AUEN	n	
	AD	and the second second		
	AD			



TECHNICAL REPORT ARLCD-TR-77027

ADHESIVE BONDED STEEL: BOND DURABILITY AS RELATED TO SELECTED SURFACE TREATMENTS

A. T. DEVINE

DECEMBER 1977



US ARMY ARMAMENT RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COMMAND LARGE CALIBER WEAPON SYSTEMS LABORATORY DOVER. NEW JERSEY

APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELEASE; DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED.

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position. \boldsymbol{C}

-

DISPOSITION

Destroy this report when no longer needed. Do not return to the originator.

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data)	Entered)	, 0
	PAGE	READ INSTRUCTIONS
	AOL	BEFORE COMPLETING FORM
	2. SOVT ACCESSION NO.	o. Reditient 5 extracoo Number
Technical Report ARLCD-1R-77027	1	
4. TITLE (and Subtitle)		S. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVEREO
Adhesive Bonded Steel: Bond Dural	bility as	
Related to Selected Surface Treatme	ents	6. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER
7. AUTHOR(e)		8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(#)
A. I. Devine		AMCMS Code: 6121.05.1148.4
9 DEREORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ACORESS		10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK
		AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS
ARRADUUM, LUWSL		
Applied Sciences Division (DRDAR	-LCA-UA)	
11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND AOORESS		12. REPORT OATE
		December 1977
		13. NUMBER OF PAGES
		36
14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(II differen	t from Controlling Office)	15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)
		Unclassified
		15a. DECLASSIFICATION/OOWNGRAOING
		SCHEOULE
16. OISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report)		
17. OISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the abstract entered	in Block 20, 11 different fro	om Report)
18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES		
19. KEY WOROS (Continue on reverse eide if necessary en	nd identify by block number)
Steel Ad	hesive bonding	Shear strength
Surface treatment Du	rability	5
Phosphoric acid Epo	, vxc	
lodophosphate Acr	rylic	
20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and	d identify by block number)	
High-strength 4340 carbon stee four selected surface preparations: Triton X-200 solution, (3) phospho iodide/phosphoric acid (iodophosp all four surface preparations using	I single lap-shear (1) wire brush, pric acid/ethanol hate) solution. E 3M's EC 2214 ep	r coupons were treated with (2) sodium metasilicate/ solution, and (4) potassium Bonded joints were made with oxy and B.F. Goodrich's
DD 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV 65 IS OBSOL	LETE	

.

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered)

20. Abstract (continued)

TAME 200 acrylic adhesive. The joints were subjected to lap shear strengthcontrol testing at 23°C and 60°C, then to hot water soak at 60°C for 100, 500, and 1,000 hours followed by testing at 60°C and stressed durability at 60°C and 95% RH until failure. Results indicate only slight differences in control test results for the different surface treatments using EC 2214, but very large differences using TAME 200. Durability of joints using both adhesives clearly favors the iodophosphate and phosphoric acid/ethanol treatments.

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Data Entered)

The citation in this report of the names of commercial firms or commercially available products or services does not constitute official endorsement or approval of such commercial firms, products, or services by the U.S. Government.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page No.
Introduction	1
Discussion	1
Surface Characteristics New Surface Preparation	3 3
Failing Modes	4
Experimental	4
Materials	4
Surface Preparation Hot-Water-Soak Test	5
Stressed Durability Test	6
Single Lap Shear Test	6
Conclusions	6
Recommendations	7
References	9
Tables	
1 Lap shear strength and durability of TAME 200 adhesive bonded to different 4340 steel surface	
preparations	11
2 Lap shear strength and durability of EC 2214 adhesive bonded to several 4340 steel surface	
preparations	13
3 Lap shear strength and durability of Dymax 830 adhesive bonded to wire brushed/oil coated 434	0
steel	15

Figures

1	TAME 220/wire brushed steel, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	17
2	TAME 200/sodium metasilicate + TX 200, residual shear stress after 60°C hot water soak	18
3	TAME 200/phosphoric acid-alcohol, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	19
4	TAME 200/iodophosphate, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	20
5	EC 2214/wire brushed, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	21
6	EC 2214/sodium metasilicate + TX 200, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	22
7	EC 2214/phosphoric acid + alcohol, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	23
8	EC 2214/iodophosphate, residual shear strength after 60°C hot water soak	24
9	Wire brushed 4340 steel	25
10	Wire brushed 4340 steel with sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 post treatment	27
11	Wire brushed 4340 steel with phosphoric acid/ethanol post treatment	29
Distrib	ution List	31

INTRODUCTION

This study was designed to determine the relative durability in a harsh, warm, moist environment of bonds made to high-strength carbon steel after surface treatment by several different methods.

The selection of a surface preparation for adhesive bonding should be based upon the requirements of the system and its anticipated service environment. The combination of elevated temperature and high humidity is an adverse environment for many adhesive bonded substrates. Accelerated tests of bonded assemblies exposed to such an environment serve to identify the better surface preparations.

This work was initiated because relatively little research has been done in the area of surface pretreatments of steel, as compared with aluminum prior to bonding. This is due primarily to the fact that the aircraft related industries have provided the impetus for much of the structural bonding study done to date and aluminum, because of its favorable strength to weight ratio, is a preferred construction material for aircraft. For Army munitions applications, however, steel alloys are at least as important as aluminum alloys, and steel assemblies are increasingly being joined by adhesive bonding. The surface preparations used in this study were selected for coordination on the basis of their potential, as ascertained from the literature, and their apparent diversity in processability and chemical preparation. The wire-brush treatment used is the simplest of the surface preparations evaluated. The sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200, phosphoric acid/alcohol, and iodophosphate treatments represent recommendations of the American Society for Testing and Materials (Ref 1), a British adhesives handbook (Ref 2), and a recent American journal article (Ref 3), respectively.

DISCUSSION

Tables 1 through 3 contain the complete data necessary for a comparison of the four surface preparations. Graphical representation is shown in Figures 1 through 8. The selection of surface preparations for bonding 4340 steel should be dictated by whether or not exposure to elevated temperatures coupled with humidity is to be encountered either in service or storage. The data in this report indicate that, with EC 2214 adhesive, any of the surface preparations are capable of yielding high-strength bonds (~35 MPa) at 23°C. At 60°C strengths are unchanged. Therefore, wire brushing appears to be a good choice on the basis of simplicity alone. If, however, the EC 2214 epoxy joints are to be exposed to elevated temperature and humidity, as simulated by the hot water soak, one may expect a steady deterioration with exposure time to the point that strengths of only 35 to 50% remain after 1,000 hours. This being the case, the use of a phosphoric acid/ethanol or iodophosphate surface preparation is advised, since these preparations yield 50% strength-retention levels; whereas, the wire brush and the wire brush followed by sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 treatment both yielded only 35 to 40% initial strength-retention levels.

The stressed durability test, in which the EC 2214 joints were loaded to 13.70 MPa (2,000 psi) and the time-to-failure noted upon exposure to 60°C and 95% RH, indicated that the phosphoric acid/alcohol etch was most durable followed by sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200, iodophosphate, and wire brushing, in that order.

The use of TAME 200 acrylic adhesive with the same four surface treatments indicated lower initial strengths to the acid-prepared surfaces than to the wire-brushed or sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 surfaces. Hot-water-soak tests, however, clearly favor the acid treatments since 70% to 80% of the initial strengths are retained after 1,000 hours immersion. The non-acid treatments yielded only about 40% initial-joint strengths after similar exposure. Stressed durability tests on the TAME 200 joints indicate that the acid-treated surfaces yield joints which lasted 3 to 5 times longer than the non-acid treatments.

An additional set of specimens was made using Dymax 830 epoxy adhesive over a wire-brushed steel surface coated with SAE 30 oil and dry wiped. Initial strengths were good (~30 MPa) at 23°C, but fell to ~20 MPa at 60°C. Hot-water-soak tests yielded excellent strength retention after immersion for 1,000 hours. Stressed durability test results were very poor with specimens failing in under one hour.

Surface Characteristics

Surface characterization was attempted by means of photomicrographs to determine how the topography of the surface was affected by the various methods. All surfaces were sanded prior to any subsequent treatment, so the differences in appearance are due to alterations of the surface after sanding. This alteration could have been caused by a deposition or removal of surface material.

At 6.75 x 10³ magnification, the wire-brushed 4340 steel shown in Figure 9 (A) has a definite striated surface with particulate matter randomly dispersed over the surface. The striations are understandably the result of the unidirectional mechanical brushing. The particulate matter, which could have been insoluble carbon left behind after dissolving the metal from under the replica, is probably not representative of the actual wire-brushed surface and should be overlooked when interpreting this picture. Figure 10 (A) shows the wire-brushed surface after treatment with the sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 bath. Note that the striations are still present on the surface but there is also a crusty deposit and scattered particulate matter present. In sharp contrast, the phosphoric acid/ethanol treated surface shown in Figure 11 (A) has had almost all striations masked and presents a uniformly mottled surface.

At higher magnifications such as 33×10^3 [(B), Fig 9, 10, 11] and 92×10^3 [(C), Fig 9, 10, 11] differences are even more accented. At 33×10^3 and 92×10^3 magnification, the wire-brushed surface still clearly exhibits a striated pattern, whereas the same surface post-treated with sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 is not striated but appears blistered at these magnifications. The phosphoric acid/ethanol post-treated surface at 33×10^3 magnification is distinctly different having a glossy, almost molten or wet appearance. This points towards an amorphous or semi-crystalline surface structure. At 92×10^3 magnification, the surface possesses a sculptured look having a lightly shaded background with dark smudges creating the pattern.

New Surface Preparation

A recent Soviet journal article (Ref 4) described a process of polymerizing oils on the surface of steel to form a lacquer coating. Bonds made to these coatings, according to the Soviets, were as much as 7-1/2 times stronger than those made to degreased steel. Although all of the details of the test method were not given, the process looked promising enough to evaluate. A cursory check of the technique (using mineral oil at a temperature of 250°C for 40 minutes) resulted in bonds which were not 7-1/2 times stronger than those formed with more commonly used surface preparations and, in fact, were only about 80% to 90% as strong. However, the results are promising enough to warrant further investigation and optimization of the technique and to check the durability of the resultant bonds under harsh temperature and humidity conditions.

Failing Modes

The predominant (~90%) mode of failure for EC 2214 RT (~23°C) control joints was adhesive for the phosphoric acid/ethanol and iodophosphate surface treatments and 50% adhesive/50% cohesive for the wire brushed and the sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 joints. At 60°C the predominant failure mode was adhesive for all surface preparations used, although the percentage of adhesive failure for wire brushing was lower (75% adhesive/25% cohesive) than for the others.

With the TAME 200 acrylic system, all RT (~23°C) failures were adhesive in nature. At 60°C failure remained adhesive, except that for the non-acid treatments the adhesive failures were jagged (partially from each surface in a jagged pattern), whereas the acid surface preparations yielded failures which were adhesive from one side only.

After hot water soaking, the failures remained mostly adhesive (70% to 90%), but more cohesive failure was observed. Interestingly, on the wire-brushed specimens, most of the cohesive failure was located at the edge for the EC 2214 epoxy adhesive and dead center for the TAME 200 acrylic adhesive, two completely opposite failure patterns. Cohesive failure around the perimeter of a bonded joint, conditioned as these specimens were, is very unusual since water generally causes interfacial separation of the adhesive and adherend. What this unusual failing mode suggests is that a plasticizing effect is caused by the EC 2214's absorbing water into its matrix. This could weaken the adhesive sufficiently to cause it to fail cohesively before it fails adhesively.

EXPERIMENTAL

Materials

4340 Steel

An ultra high-strength steel commonly used for munitions, having the following composition:
 C 0.4%, Mn 0.85%, Si 0.2%, Cr 0.75%, Ni 1.80%, Mo 0.25%, and a yield strength of 270,000 psi.

EC 2214	-	A one-part 120°C curing epoxy paste adhesive manufactured by the 3M Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota.

TAME 200 - A two-part room temperature (~23°C) curing acrylic adhesive manufactured by B.F. Goodrich Company, Akron, Ohio.

Surface Preparation

All 4340 steel was solvent wiped with acetone to remove excess dirt and grime. The panels were then given one of the following treatments:

Wire Brush. Steel panels were mechanically abraded with a power-driven steel wire wheel until a shiny metal appearance was achieved. The panels were then rinsed with ethanol and stored under ethanol until use.

Sodium Metasilicate/Triton X-200 (Ref 1). The steel panels were mechanically abraded as in the wire brush treatment, above, then treated according to Method E of ASTM Recommended Practice D2651. This involves immersing for 15 minutes at $63 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C (155 $\pm 5^{\circ}$ F) in the following solution by weight: 47.2 parts water, 1.0 part sodium metasilicate, and 1.8 parts Triton X-200. The panels were then rinsed under running tap water and dried at 60°C.

Phosphoric Acid/Alcohol (Ref 2). The steel was abraded mechanically, as described above, then etched for 10 minutes at 60°C in the following solution by weight: 1 part orthophosphoric acid (88%) to 2 parts ethyl alcohol (denatured). The resultant smutty carbon residue was brushed off under running tap water, rinsed with de-ionized water, and dried at 120°C for 1 hour.

Iodophosphate (Ref 3). The steel panels were mechanically abraded, as described above, then alkaline cleaned in a solution of 3% (each) trisodium phosphate and sodium carbonate for 5 munites at 82 <u>+</u> 3°C followed by a de-ionized water rinse. The panels were then immersed for 6 minutes in a solution of 50 g KI per ℓ of 1:1:: Conc. H₂PO₄: H₂O V/V, rinsed in de-ionized water and dried at 40°C.

Hot-Water-Soak Test

This test described in detail in PATR 4744 (Ref 5) entails immersing the bonded panels in water at 60°C and withdrawing them after 100-, 500-, and 1,000-hour immersion for lap shear tests. The shear test is carried out at 60°C immediately after removal from the water.

Stressed Durability Test

This test involves spring loading the bonded specimens to a specified percentage of its 23°C room-temperature control strength and subjecting the joint to 60°C and 95% relative humidity until failure has been induced. Load levels are generally within 20% to 40% of the control strength range, and results are plotted as load level vs time-to-failure. In this study, only the maximum (40%) load level was studied.

Single Lap Shear Test

This test, according to ASTM D1002, uses a 25.4 mm (1-in.) wide by 12.7 mm (1/2-in.) overlap joint loaded at a rate of 1.3 mm (0.05 in.) per minute until rupture. Test temperatures of 23°C and 60°C were employed.

All specimens were tested as made at 23°C and 60°C, and these data were used for controls. Subsequent tests of hot-water soaked specimens were carried out wet at 60° C.

CONCLUSIONS

There is little difference (<6%) in the strength of joints made with EC 2214 regardless of the surface preparation. After 100- and 500- hour hot water soaks there is also very little difference, but after 1,000- hour hot water soak the two phosphoric acid surface preparation methods clearly retained more strength, i.e., they yielded more durable joints.

Stressed durability results on EC 2214 joints confirm the good durability of the phosphoric acid/alcohol surface, but rate the sodium metasilicate and Triton X-200 surface more durable than the iodophosphate surface. The wire-brushed surfaces were the least durable.

Results with the TAME 200 acrylic system indicate very large differences (up to 45%) in strength among bonds made to the different surfaces, with the two phosphoric-acid prepared surfaces yielding the lowest strengths. After the 1,000-hour hot water soak, however, the joints with the two phosphoric-acid prepared surfaces retained a substantially higher portion of their original strengths and were even higher in absolute strength, 71% and 83% for phosphoric acid/alcohol and iodophosphate, respectively, versus 37% and 40%, respectively, for the wire brushed and sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 surfaces.

The stressed durability tests conducted on the TAME 200 specimens show clearly the outstanding durability of both of the phosphoric acid treatments employed.

Bonds approximately 60% to 300% stronger than the TAME 200 were obtained with the EC 2214 due, in part possibly, to the fact that the EC 2214 used was a single batch, one-part, 120°C curing adhesive whereas the TAME 200 was used as several batches of a two-part, room temperature (~23°C) curing system.

Both the EC 2214 and TAME 200 systems have excellent elevated temperature properties. The EC 2214 was essentially unchanged (98% to 104% of 23°C strength) at 60°C, whereas the TAME 200 was considerably stronger at 60°C (113% to 136% of 23°C strength).

Bonds to a wire brushed, thin-oil coated 4340 steel using Dymax 830 adhesive exhibited excellent hot water soak durability by retaining 100% strength after 500 hours soak and 85% after 1,000 hours soak. However, the results of the stressed durability tests were poor.

After giving 1,000-hour hot water soaked specimens an opportunity to return to original conditions (23°C + 50% RH) before testing, the TAME 200 specimens appeared to lose strength compared to those tested @ 60°C 95% RH. The EC 2214 specimens were found to gain in strength after drying out and testing @ 23°C. This indicates a tendency on the part of the EC 2214 system to recover, whereas the permanent damage to the TAME system appears much greater.

RECOMMENDATIONS

In order to more accurately determine the shape of the hot-water-soak durability curves, an additional group of data obtained at 10,000 hours (~400 days) would be most valuable. It is also strongly recommended that additional specimens be prepared and subjected to such exposure as soon as possible. Based on some promising results obtained in bonding to a polymerized mineral-oil surface on steel, it is recommended that this steel surface preparation technique be further studied with particular attention given to the durability of the resultant joints. This technique, according to a Soviet journal article (Ref 4), has resulted in a bond 7-1/2 times stronger than that obtained on degreased steel. The process does require optimization of temperature and duration of heating for best lacquer formation from different oils.

The use of the phosphoric acid/alcohol or iodophosphate acid etch is recommended where 4340 steel surfaces are to be subjected to elevated temperature and humidity, either in service or storage. While similar trends might be expected with other steels, no extrapolation of these results to other steel alloys is advisable.

The responsiveness of other steel alloys to the surface treatments evaluated in this program should be quantitatively assessed in the same manner as the 4340 steel was assessed for this study.

The additional steps involved in using the sodium metasilicate/ Triton X-200 bath is not justified in view of the lack of improved durability observed compared with simple wire brushing. For this reason, its use is not recommended.

REFERENCES

- 1. ASTM Recommended Practice, D2651, Method E, Part 16, July 1973.
- 2. J. Shields, <u>Adhesive Handbook</u>, Chapter 6, *Surface Preparation*, CRC Press, 1970.
- 3. H. N. Vazirani, Surface Preparation of Steel for Adhesive Bonding and Organic Coatings, J. Adhesion, Vol 1, July 1969, p. 222.
- G.D. Mirzoyev and Z. Zakirov, Effect of Oil Films on the Adhesion of Polymers to Metal, The Tadjik Agricultural Institute, <u>Transactions</u>, Vol. 13, 1968, p. 73-76. Edited Translation, Air Force Systems Command Foreign Technology Division, AD 713450.
- 5. R.F. Wegman, et al, *The Effect of Environmental Exposure on the Endurance of Bonded Joints in Army Helicopters*, Technical Report 4744, Picatinny Arsenal, Dover, NJ, May 1975.

e
-
Ω
3
Ľ.

•

4

٠

-

.

c

Lap shear strength and durability of TAME 200 adhesive bonded to different 4340 steel surface preparations

TTF (C) @60 ^o C/95% RH and 4.8 MPa Stress (hr)	506 703 698 793 $\overline{x} = 675$	$ \frac{\langle 837 \\ 96 \\ \langle 837 \\ \overline{37} \\ \overline{x} = \langle 452 \rangle $	3144 2496 2160 1992 X = 2448
			(a)
C, MPa (psi) (1,000 hr)	12.13 (1760) 3.24 (470) 13.17 (1910) <u>3.59 (520)</u> x = 9.51 s = 5.46 % Ret=37.3	11.91 (1730) 14.69 (2130) 3.79 (550) 8.48 (1230) $\overline{x} = 10.13$ s = 5.66 % Ret=40.5	16.34 (2370) 21.79 (3160) 11.03 (1600) 9.24 (1340) x = 16.39 s = 5.38 % Ret=70.9
ater Soak (60 ⁰ (500 hr)	19.37 (2810) 22.89 (3320) 15.03 (2180) <u>12.62 (1830)</u> $\overline{x} = 17.48$ s = 4.56 % Ret=68.7	17.24 (2500) 22.20 (3220) 11.72 (2180) <u>16.75 (1830)</u> $\overline{x} = 16.98$ s = 4.28 % Ret=67.9	11.24 (1630) 12.82 (1860) 21.30 (3090) <u>9.93 (1440)</u> x = 13.82 s = 5.13 % Ret=59.8
After Hot W (100 hr)	21.65 (3140) 25.92 (3760) 25.30 (3670) <u>21.17 (3070)</u> $\overline{x} = 23.51$ s = 2.45 % Ret=92.3 (b)	22.20 (3220) 23.30 (3280) 16.82 (2440) <u>17.72 (2570)</u> X = 20.01 s = 3.22 % Ret=80.1	17.37 (2520) 16.62 (2410) 25.44 (3690) 25.99 (3770) x = 21.36 s = 5.05 % Ret=92.4
Strength, MPa (psi) (60°C)	$25.65 (3720) \\ 25.51 (3700) \\ 25.65 (3720) \\ 24.96 (3620) \\ \overline{x} = 25.44 \\ \overline{x} = 0.33$	$26.61 (3860) 24.82 (3600) 23.58 (3420) 24.96 (3620) \overline{x} = 24.99 s = 1.25 $	23.03 (3340)24.27 (3520)25.17 (3650)19.99 (2900)x = 23.11s = 2.26
Control Shear (23°C)	$20.55 (2980) 24.55 (3560) 23.10 (3350) 21.58 (3130) \overline{x} = 22.44 s = 1.75 $	$13.79 (2000) 16.41 (2380) 25.65 (3720) 17.65 (2560) \overline{x} = 18.37 s = 5.11 $	17.79 (2580) 19.31 (2800) 17.92 (2600) <u>15.86 (2300)</u> x = 17.72 s = 1.42
Surface Preparation	Wire Brushed	Sodium Meta Silicate and Triton X-200	Phosphoric Acid and Alcohol

Table 1 (cont)

Surface	Control Shear	Strength, MPa (psi)	After Hot W	ater Soak @60 ^c	C, MPa (psi)	TTF ^(c) _{(d60^oC/95% RH}
Preparation	(23°C)	(60°C)	(100 hr)	(500 hr)	(1,000 hr)	and 4.8 MPa Stress, (hr)
Iodophosphate	9.51 (1380) 11.72 (1700) 12.96 (1880) <u>15.51 (2250)</u> $\overline{x} = 12.43$ s = 2.50	$11.03 (1600) \\13.93 (2020) \\21.10 (3060) \\9.93 (1440) \\\overline{x} = 14.00 \\s = 5.03$	$15.24 (2210) \\ 17.37 (2520) \\ 20.34 (2950) \\ \underline{13.24 (1920)} \\ \overline{x} = 16.55 \\ s = 3.04 \\ s = 3.04$	9.24 (1340) 8.27 (1200) 16.34 (2370) 10.62 (1540) $\overline{x} = 11.12$ s = 3.61	$\begin{array}{c} 8.55 & (1240) \\ 17.03 & (2470) \\ 9.38 & (1360) \\ 6.76 & (980) \\ \overline{5.76} & (980) \\ 8 & = 4.68 \\ 8 & = 4.68 \\ 8 & = 4.68 \end{array}$	(a) $\frac{1992}{1848}$ $\frac{1848}{2472}$ $\overline{x} = 2198$

- Strength Retention after oven drying at 60° C for 8 hours followed by conditioning for three weeks at 23° C and 50% RH. Tested at 23° C. (a)
- (b) % Ret Percent retention of $60^{\circ}C$ control strength.
- (c) TTF Time to Failure

2
e
q
T ₂

•

.

.

w

*

.

Lap shear strength and durability of EC 2214 Adhesive bonded to several 4340 steel surface preparations

TTF (C) @60 ^o C/95% RH and 13.8 MPa Stress,(hr)	$\frac{116}{122} \\ \frac{122}{28} \\ \frac{98}{x} = 112$	$\frac{150}{132}$ $\frac{132}{179}$ $\frac{188}{\overline{x}} = 162$	$\begin{array}{l} 201 \\ 209 \\ 195 \\ \overline{x} = 217 \end{array}$
, MPa (psi) (1,000 hr)	$15.65 (2270) \\ 12.82 (1860) \\ 14.69 (2130) \\ 26.48 (3840) \\ 26.48 (3840) \\ 14.39 \\ s = 1.44 \\ s = 1.44 \\ % Ret = 41.0 $	7.72 (1120) 15.31 (2220) 17.24 (2500) 27.37 (3970) (5 $\overline{x} = 13.42$ s = 5.03 % Ret=34.6	$19.24 (2790) 19.86 (2880) 20.13 (2920) 24.82 (3600) \overline{x} = 19.74 s = 0.46 $
After Hot Water Soak @60 ⁰ C (100 hr) (500 hr)	$25.99 (3770) 26.13 (3790) 25.51 (3700) 25.58 (3710) 25.51 (3700) 23.03 (3340) 24.61 (3570) 27.58 (4000) 22.75 (3300) 27.58 (4000) 22.75 (3300) 25.55 \overline{x} = 24.75\overline{x} = 25.55 \overline{x} = 24.75s = 1.89s = 1.89s = 1.47% Ret=72.8(b) % Ret =70.5$	$26.34 (3820) 9.93 (2890) 27.65 (4010) 26.54 (3850) 29.37 (4260) 26.96 (3910) 29.30 (4250) 26.99 (3910) 29.30 (4250) 26.89 (3910) 29.30 (4250) \overline{x} = 28.17 \overline{x} = 25.08 \text{ s} = 3.44 \text{ s} \text{ s} = 1.46 \text{s} = 3.44 \text{ s} \text{ s} \text{ s} = 3.44 \text{ s} \text{ s} \text{ s} = 1.46 \text{s} = 3.44 \text{ s} \text{ s} \text{ s} = 3.44 \text{ s} \text{ s} \text{ s} = 3.44 \text{ s} $	$24,48 (4130) 25,72 (3730) 27,79 (4030) 21,44 (3110) 28,06 (4070) 24,82 (3600) 27,03 (3920) 24,68 (3580) \overline{x} = 27,03 (3920) 24,68 (3580) \overline{x} = 27,84 \overline{x} = 24,17 s = 0.61 s = 1.87$
Strength, MPa (psi) (60°C)	$\begin{array}{rcrcrcccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	38, 33 (5560) 39, 16 (5680)	38.33 (5560) 39.30 (5700) 35.44 (5140) <u>34.13 (4950)</u> x = 36.80 s = 2.42
Control Shear (23°C)	$35.51 (5150) 35.99 (5220) 34.61 (5020) 36.13 (5240) \overline{x} = 35.56s = .69$	$\begin{array}{rcl} 34.61 & (5020) \\ 36.54 & (5300) \\ 40.54 & (5880) \\ 37.09 & (5380) \\ \overline{x} &= 37.20 \\ \overline{x} &= 2.47 \\ \mathrm{s} &= 2.47 \end{array}$	$39.16 (5680) 34.68 (5030) 34.34 (4980) 39.30 (5700) \overline{x} = 36.87 s = 2.73 $
Surface <u>Preparation</u>	Wire Brushed	Sodium Meta Silicate and Triton X+200	Phosphoric Acid and Alcohol

% Ret=53.6

% Ret=65.7

% Ret=75.7

Table 2 (continued)

Surface <u>Preparation</u>	Control Shear (23°C)	Strength, MPa (psi) (60°C)	After Hot Wa (100 hr)	ter Soak @60 ^o C [500 hr]	, MPa (psi) (1,000 hr)	TTF ^(C) @60 ^o C/95% RH and 13.8 MPa Stress, (h	2
Iodophosphate	$\begin{array}{rcl} 39.16 & (5680) \\ 35.16 & (5100) \\ 37.58 & (5450) \\ 38.61 & (5600) \\ \hline x &= 37.63 \\ s &= 1.77 \\ s &= 1.77 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 39,99 & (5800) \\ 36,96 & (5360) \\ 37,78 & (5480) \\ 37,65 & (5460) \\ \overline{x} &= 38,09 \\ \overline{x} &= 1,31 \\ \overline{x} &= 1,31 \end{array}$	26.96 (3910) 26.82 (3890) 26.96 (3910) 27.44 (3980) $\overline{x} = 27.04$ $\overline{s} = 0.27$	$28.27 (4100)$ $29.30 (4250)$ $24.13 (3500)$ $27.79 (4030)$ $\overline{x} = 27.37$ $s = 2.25$	$\begin{array}{rrrr} 19.65 & (2850) \\ 20.55 & (2980) \\ 18.89 & (2860) \\ 26.89 & (3900) \\ \hline x &= 19.70 \\ s &= 0.83 \end{array}$	(a) $\frac{116}{136}$ $\frac{1169}{169}$ $\frac{171}{x} = 148$	4
			% Ret=71.0	% Ret=71.9	% Ret=51.7		

- Strength retention after oven drying at 60° C for 8 hours followed by conditioning for three weeks at 23° C and 50% RH. Tested at 23° C. (a)
- (b) % Ret Percent retention of 60° C control strength.
- (c) TTF Time to Failure

Table 3

4

¥

Lap shear strength and durability of Dymax 830 Adhesive bonded to wire brushed/oil coated 4340 steel

TTF(b) @60 ⁰ C/95% RH and 12.4 MPa Stress, (hr)	∑ ∴ ∴ ∴ .*
C, MPa (psi) (1,000 hr)	11.31 (1640) 22.06 (3200) 18.55 (2690) <u>17.51 (2540)</u> x - 17.36 s - 4.48 % Ret=85.1
Vater Soak (460°) (500 hr)	14.07 (2040) 22.75 (3300) 21.99 (3190) 22.82 (3310) x = 20.41 s = 4.25 % Ret=100
) After Hot V (100 hr)	21.51 (3120) 28.66 (4070) 21.93 (3180) 23.37 (3390) x - 23.72 x - 23.72 x Ret=116.2(a)
Strength, MPa (psi (60°)	$19.72 (2860) \\ 17.65 (2560) \\ 25.65 (3720) \\ 18.62 (2700) \\ x = 20.41 \\ s = 3.59$
Control Shear (23°)	31.03 (4500)31.72 (4600)28.96 (4200)32.54 (4720)x = 31.06x = 1.53s = 1.53
Surface <u>Preparation</u>	Wire Brushed then Oil Coated

(a) % Ret - Percent retention of 60° C control strength.

(b) TTF - Time to Failure



































(A) 6,750 X



(B) 33,000 X Figure 9. Wire brushed 4340 steel



(C) 92,000 X

Figure 9. Wire brushed 4340 steel (continued)



(B) 33,000 X







Figure 10. Wire brushed 4340 steel with sodium metasilicate/Triton X-200 post treatment (continued)



(A) 6,750 X



(B) 33,000 X

Figure 11. Wire brushed 4340 steel with phosphoric acid/ethanol post treatment



(C) 92,000 X

Figure 11. Wire brushed 4340 steel with phosphoric acid/ethanol post treatment (continued)

DISTRIBUTION LIST

Commander US Army Armament Research & Development Command ATTN: DRDAR-TSS (5) DRDAR-LCA-OA (15) DRDAR-LCN (5) DRDAR-LCU (5) DRDAR-QA (2) DRDAR-TSF (2) DRDAR-QAA DRDAR-QAN

DRSAR-LCA-OK, Mr, Pebly

DRSAR-LCA-OK, Mr. Landrock Dover, NJ 07801

Commander

US Army Materiel Development & Readiness Command ATTN: DRCDE-R, Mr. J. Rivkin DRCPP-PI DRCQA 5001 Eisenhower Avenue

Alexandria, VA 22304

Commander

US Army Missile Research & Development Command ATTN: DRSMI-RLM, Mr. E.A. Verchot Chief, Document Section Redstone Arsenal, AL 35801

Commander

US Army Armament Materiel Readiness Command ATTN: DRSAR-RDP DRSAR-MP-PC SARRI-SP, Mr. J. Ziegler DRSAR-RDM DRSAR-RDT, Dr. Daryl Penrod DRSAR-RDT DRSAR-ASF, Mr. H. Wohlferth Rock Island, IL 61201 Commander

US Army Electronics Command

ATTN: DRSEL-TL-ME, Mr. Dan Lichenstein DRSEL-TL-ME, Mr. A.J. Raffalovich DRSEL-TL-ME, Mr. G. Platau DRSEL-PP-EM2, Sarah Rosen

Fort Monmouth, NJ 07703

Commander

US Army Troop Support and Aviation Materiel Readiness Command ATTN: DRSTS-MET (2) DRSTS-MEU, Mr. E. Dawson (2) DRSTS-ME, Mr. C. Sims (2)

DRSTS-MEN, Mr. L.D. Brown (2)

DRSTS-MEL, Mr. Bell (2)

PO Box 209, Main Office

St. Louis, MO

Commander

US Army Aviation Research & Development Command ATTN: DRDAV-EQA, Mr. W. McClane PO Box 209, Main Office St. Louis, MO 63166

Director

US Army Tank-Automotive Research & Development Command ATTN: DRSTRA-KMD, Mr. Francis S. Lemmer Warren, MI 48090

Commander

US Army Materials & Mechanics Research Center ATTN: Technical Information Section Watertown, MA 01172

Director US Army Production Equipment Agency Rock Island Arsenal ATTN: DRXPE-MT, Mr. H. Holmes (2)

Rock Island, IL 61201

Commander Corpus Christi Army Depot ATTN: DRSTS-MES (2) DRSTS-MESA, Mr. T. Tullos (2) DRSTS-MESP, Mr. Bulloch Corpus Christi, TX 78419

Chief

Benet Weapons Laboratory US Army Armament Research & Development Command ATTN: DRDAR-LCB Watervliet, NY 12189

Director

US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, PO Box 631 Corps of Engineers ATTN: Mr. Hugh L. Green, WE SSS1 Vicksburg, MS 39180

Commander

US Army Medical Bio-Engineering Research and Development Laboratories

Fort Deterick

ATTN: Dr. C. Wade Frederick, MD 21701

Commander

Harry Diamond Laboratories

ATTN: Mr. N. Kaplan Mr. J.M. Boyd Library Washington, DC 20438

Commander/Director Chemical Systems Laboratory USA, ARRADCOM ATTN: DRDAR-CL, Bldg E5101 DRDAR-CLB-PU, Mr. Dave Schneck Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005 Commander Tobyhanna Army Depot ATTN: Mr. A. Alfano Tobyhanna, PA 18466

Director US Army Ballistic Research Laboratory USA, ARRADCOM Building 328 Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD 21005

Commander US Army Materiel Development & Readiness Command ATTN: DRCPM-UA, Mr. C. Musgrave DRCPM-LH, Mr. C. Cioffi DRCPM-HLS-T, Mr. R.E. Hahn PO Box 209 St. Louis, MO 63166

Commander Natick Research & Development Command Natick, MA 01760

Commander US Army Engineer Research & Development Labs Fort Belvoir, VA 22060

Department of the Navy Naval Air Systems Command ATTN: Mr. John J. Gurtowski (IAR 52032C) Washington, DC 20360

Naval Ordnance Station (NOSL) ATTN: Mr. W.J. Ryan, Code 5041 Southside Drive Louisville, KY 40214

Naval Avionics Facility ATTN: Mr. B.D. Tague, Code D/802 Mr. Paul H. Guhl, D/033.3 21st and Arlington Indianapolis, IN 46218 Commander

US Naval Weapons Station ATTN: Research & Development Div Yorktown, VA 23491

Commander Aeronautical Systems Division ATTN: Mr. W. Scardino, AFML/MXE Mr. T.J. Aponyi Composite and Fibrous Materials Br Nonmetallic Materials Division Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, OH 45433

Dr. Robert S. Shane, Staff Scientist National Materials Advisory Board National Academy of Sciences 2101 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20418

US Army Air Mobility R&D Laboratory, Headquarters Advanced Systems Research Office ATTN: Mr. F. Immen, MS 207.5 Ames Research Center Moffet Field, CA 94035

Naval Ship Engineering Center ATTN: Mr. W.R. Graner, SEC 610E Prince George's Center Hyattsville, MD 20782

Mare Island Naval Shipyard Rubber Engineering Section ATTN: Mr. Ross E. Morris, Code 134.04 Vallejo, CA 94592

Hanscom Air Force Base ATTN: Mr. R. Karlson, ESD/DE, Stop 7 HQ, ESD Bedford, MA 01731

t

Naval Air Development Center Materials Laboratory ATTN: Mr. Coleman Nadler, Code 30221, Div, AVTD Warminster, PA 18974 Defense Documentation Center (12) Cameron Station Alexandria, VA 22314

Director

US Army Materials & Mechanics Research Center ATTN: AMXMR-OR, Dr. Thomas (2) Watertown, MA 02172